I. INTRODUCTION 

This case concerns whether courts will enforce insurance 

regulations and the Insurance Fair Conduct Act to protect policyholders 

when an insurance company fails to defend, assist, investigate, and pay 

losses. The case also concerns an escrow and closing agent's 

contractual and fiduciary duties to a homebuyer to whom it provides 

services. 

Plaintiffs Edward and Maya Eleazer respectfully submit this 

Brief showing that the trial court erred in dismissing their causes of 

action against First American Title Insurance Company and its 

division, The Talon Group. RAP 2.2(a)(3); RAP 3.1. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignments of Error 

1. The trial court erred in entering the order of March 24, 2016, 

denying Plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment on breaches 

of contract and insurance coverage, and dismissing their second 

amended complaint. CP 3. 

2. The trial court erred in entering the order of March 24, 2016, 

granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment and counterclaim 

for declaratory relief of no insurance coverage. CP 3. 



Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

A. A Closing Agreement and Escrow Instructions required Talon 

agreed to provide statements regarding encumbrances on the title of 

real property being purchased by Edward and Maya. Talon did not 

provide those statements. Did Talon breach the Instructions? 

B. Fiduciary duties of scrupulous honesty, skill, and diligence 

governed Talon's conduct in the real estate transaction with Edward 

and Maya. Talon did not exercise diligence in acquiring and conveying 

statements regarding encumbrances on the title; Talon did not properly 

complete the statutory warranty deed; Talon did not inform Edward and 

Maya that the property was encumbered by documents recorded against 

the title. Did Talon breach its fiduciary duties? 

C&D. First American acknowledged insurance coverage for the 

undisclosed documents recorded against the title to Edward and Maya's 

property. For 16 months, however, First American did not assist, 

investigate, or pay losses, despite Edward and Maya's requests for 

assistance and clarification on coverage. First American also did not 

defend the title while others used the recorded documents to restrict 

Edward and Maya's rights to their property and cause them losses. Did 

First American breach the insurance contract? 

2 



E. For 16 months, First American materially breached the insurance 

contract by not defending, assisting, investigating, or paying losses. 

Shortly after First American was sued for its 16 months of inaction, it 

withdrew coverage, citing policy provisions against Edward and Maya. 

Is First American barred from enforcing provisions in a contract that it 

materially breached? 

F. Insurance coverage 1s premised on the undisclosed, 1993 

recorded documents that encumber the property. But First American 

withdrew coverage, claiming that Edward and Maya created a "risk" in 

2007 during pre-sale negotiations for an easement, which was not 

completed or recorded. First American's division, Talon, closed the 

transaction in 2007 without reserving the 1993 recorded documents, or 

any easement, on the deed. Does the efficient proximate cause doctrine 

mandate coverage and defeat the policy exclusion? 

G. First American also withdrew coverage on the allegation that 

Edward and Maya withheld information relating to pre-sale 

negotiations for the property. The allegation is untrue. They responded 

to First American's questions and requests for documents. And the 

information that First American claims was withheld was already 

known to Talon years earlier, because Talon was party to the closing. 

3 



Was First American's excuse for withdrawing coverage unreasonable, 

frivolous, or unfounded? 

H. First American's duties of good faith and fair dealing required it 

to take action on its insureds' behalf and not place its own interests 

above theirs. But for 16 months, First American provided no defense, 

assistance, investigation, or payment of losses. Then it withdrew 

coverage after Edward and Maya suffered additional substantial losses. 

Did First American breach its duties of good faith and fair dealing? 

I. The insurance policy and Washington law requires an insurer to 

provide prompt defense, assistance, investigation, and payment of 

losses. Although First American acknowledged insurance coverage in 

February of 2012, it never provided any benefits. Has First American 

violated the Washington Insurance Fair Conduct Act and insurance 

regulations? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Identification of the Parties 

Edward and Maya Eleazer are husband and wife. They bought a 

family home on real property located in Index, Washington. CP 450, 

833-34. 

4 



Talon engages in real estate transactions in Washington as "Talon 

Group Escrow" and/or "Talon Title"; it is a division of First American 

Title Insurance Company. CP 452, 959. First American Title Insurance 

Company is a foreign insurer that engages in the business of insurance 

in Washington. CP 452, 1011, 970. 

B. Overview of Rights 

The case involves the Insurance Fair Conduct Act (IFCA) as well 

as two contracts between the parties: (1) Closing Agreement and 

Escrow Instructions by Talon that governed the sale of the real property 

to Edward and Maya Eleazer; and (2) a Title Insurance Policy that First 

American Title Insurance Company issued to Edward and Maya. CP 

452, 456-61. 

Because it handled the real estate transaction, Talon is a party to 

the Closing Agreement and Escrow Instructions. In that capacity, Talon 

owes contractual duties as well as fiduciary duties to Edward and 

Maya. CP 457. 

Because the insurance company issued the Title Insurance Policy 

to Edward and Maya, First American Title owes contractual duties, 

quasi-fiduciary duties, and duties of good faith and fair dealing. CP 

324, 460. First American conducts insurance business in Washington, 

5 



so the Insurance Fair Conduct Act and associated insurance regulations 

apply to its conduct. CP 329. 

C. Talon's contractual duties to Edward and Maya 

In the Town of Index in 2007, a property owner named Loyal 

Nordstrom sold real property to Edward and Maya. CP 454, 460. Talon 

handled the real estate transaction by acting as the closing and escrow 

agent for the parties. CP 457, 837. A contract entitled Closing 

Agreement and Escrow Instructions defined Talon's duties. CP 457, 

837, 876-881 (Talon Contract). The Closing Agreement and Escrow 

Instructions incorporated the parties' Purchase and Sale Agreement by 

reference. CP 457, 876 (at "Terms of Sale" iJ). 

Under the terms of the contract, Talon's duties to Edward and 

Maya included the preparation, handling, and deliverance of necessary 

documents: "The closing agent is instructed to select, prepare, complete, 

correct, receive, hold, record and deliver documents as necessary to 

close the transaction." CP 458, 876 (at "Documents" iJ). 

Related to this duty, the contract required Talon to verify the 

status of existing encumbrances through written statements from the 

holders of any encumbrances: 

The closing agent is instructed to request a written 
statement from the holder of each existing encumbrance 

6 



on the property, verifying its status, terms, balance owing 
and, if it will not be removed at closing, the requirements 
that must be met to obtain a waiver of any due-on-sale 
prov1s10ns. 

CP 458, 876 (at "Verification of Existing Encumbrances" iJ). Connected 

to this duty by Talon, the parties' Purchase and Sale Agreement was 

"subject to Buyer's review of a preliminary commitment for title 

insurance, together with easements, covenants, conditions and 

restrictions of record, which are to be obtained by Buyer, to determine 

that they are consistent with Buyer's intended use of the Property." CP 

456-57, 858. If Talon could not comply with any term of the contract, 

then Talon had a duty to notify Edward and Maya. CP 458, 877 (at 

"Inability to Comply with Instructions" iJ). 

In short, the contract required Talon to (a) prepare, handle, and 

deliver documents; (b) verify existing encumbrances from the holder of 

each existing encumbrance; (c) deliver written statements regarding the 

same to Edward and Maya; and (d) notify them if Talon could not do so. 

The purpose was so that Edward and Maya could "determine that 

[easements, covenants, conditions and restrictions of record] are 

consistent with Buyer's intended use of the Property." CP 456-57, 858. 

But Talon did not request a written statement from the seller 

regarding existing encumbrances. CP 458. Talon did not deliver to 
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Edward and Maya any written statement regarding existing 

encumbrances. CP 458. Talon did not inform them that it failed to fulfill 

these instructions. CP 458. Talon's nonperformance of these contractual 

provisions prevented Edward and Maya from learning that the real 

property they were purchasing was actually encumbered by documents 

recorded against the title in 1993. CP 476. Edward and Maya did not 

learn that their property was encumbered by the 1993 recorded 

documents until three years after they purchased it. CP 462. 

Receiving notice of the 1993 recorded documents would have 

allowed Edward and Maya to take steps to remedy or remove them 

while the property was under contract in 2007; or to negotiate a new 

sale price in light of the encumbrances; or to negotiate an easement 

agreeable to both parties and consistent with the seller's representations 

on the buyers' ability to use the real property in contrast with the 

encumbrances; or to reconsider the purchase as provided in the Real 

Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement. CP 848, 858. Talon's 

nonperformance of the contractual provisions deprived Edward and 

Maya of those options. CP 459. This caused them to suffer damages as 

shown below. 

D. The real estate transaction by Talon closed without 
disclosure of encumbrances or any easement 

8 



The parties closed the real estate transaction. CP 460, 838. 

Edward and Maya received the seller's signed Certification that "all 

conditions of the purchase agreement for the above referenced property, 

including all subsequent addendums, have been met." CP 460, 883 

(Certification). The seller conveyed title to the property to Edward and 

Maya through a statutory warranty deed. CP 460, 885 (Deed). Talon 

handled the preparation and completion of the deed. Id. In the statutory 

warranty deed, no easements or encumbrances of any kind were 

reserved. Id. Title passed to Edward and Maya and was duly recorded. 

Id. Talon never informed them that their title was encumbered. CP 459. 

After buying the property, Edward and Maya invested time, 

money, and energy in renovations. CP 461. But three years later, they 

discovered the 1993 documents recorded against their title. CP 462. 

One of the documents is a Declaration of Restrictive Covenants. 

The previous owner (Ms. Nordstrom, f/k/a McMillan) recorded the 

Restrictive Covenants in 1993 to encumber both the property purchased 

in 2007 by Edward and Maya, and a neighboring property known as The 

Bush House. CP 462. The terms of the Restrictive Covenants: 

do hereby bind said parties and all of their future 
grantees, assignes [sic] and successors to said covenants 
for the term hereinafter stated and as follows: 
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1) That all parcels of property as described above are 
to be considered as one total building lot. 
2) That I have made application for developmental 
permit(s) for the construction of a building utilizing the 
above described lots as a single building lot. 

If the parties hereto, or any of them or their heirs, 
successors or assigns, shall violate or attempt to violate 
any of the Covenants herein, it shall be lawful for any 
minicipal [sic], County, or quasi-judicial agency to 
prosecute any proceedings at law or in equity against the 
person or persons violating or attempting to violate any 
such Covenant and either to prevent him or them from so 
doing or to recover damages or other dues for such 
violation." 

CP 462-63, 496 (Restrictive Covenants). So the properties are "to be 

considered one total building lot" and any violation of the Restrictive 

Covenants can subject the parties to prosecution. This raised serious 

concerns for Edward and Maya. CP 463, 840. 

The other document recorded against their title is a 1993 

Snohomish Health District letter to The Bush House. CP 463, 499-500 

(Letter). The letter lists conditions by the Health District related to the 

failure of the on-site septic system, and an application by The Bush 

House to build a new septic system across the adjacent property (which 

Edward and Maya purchased in 2007). CP 499-500. 

One Health District condition in the letter 1s that "All 

components of onsite sewage facility on separate tax lots from the Bush 

House Restaurant must be tied to Bushhouse [sic] via recorded 

10 



easements." CP 500 (Letter at p. 2, if J). This, however, was not done. 

CP 463. No easement was recorded, either in 1993 or 2007. Instead, in 

1993 Ms. Nordstrom filed the Restrictive Covenants. CP 462. When the 

property was sold to Edward and Maya in 2007, they did not know 

about the 1993 documents recorded against their title that appeared to 

provide dominant control of their land to the neighboring Bush House. 

CP 294, 459. 

Edward and Maya did know that the Bush House was connected 

to septic pipes in their own front yard. CP 294, 455-56. During a pre

sale inspection in 2007, the seller's real estate agent told Edward and 

Maya that the front-yard septic system was designed to be large enough 

for their home's use as well as the Bush House's use, in case their 

home's current septic system (located in the backyard) ever failed. CP 

456. The agent stated that Edward and Maya would need to initial a 

paper that they would be willing to sign an easement for the pipes in the 

front yard that were connected to the Bush House. CP 456. This was a 

pre-sale Form 34 for a proposed easement to "grant access for 

11 



maintenance of OSS to Bush House ... in the form of a recorded 

easement agreeable to both parties."1 CP 456, 859 (Form 34). 

Although the seller and Talon disregarded the Form 34 through 

their subsequent inaction, Edward and Maya did follow up with Talon 

before closing, which was appropriate because Talon was the closing 

agent. CP 459, 838. Edward and Maya asked Talon agents about the 

Bush House septic system easement issue. Id. The Talon agents looked 

through all the paperwork to see if they had missed anything; they said 

they did not find anything in the paperwork that mentioned the Bush 

House septic system. Id. 

In response to Edward and Maya's questions, the Talon agents 

stated they had "no idea" what they were talking about, and that the 

home and property were theirs after closing because the seller already 

signed the house and property over to them, and only their signatures 

were required to complete the transaction. Id. Edward and Maya then 

concluded that there was no need for a septic system easement after all, 

1 The Form 34 was "an agreement to do something which requires a 
further meeting of the minds of the parties and without which it would not 
be complete." Keystone Land & Dev. Co. v. Xerox Corp., 152 Wn.2d 171, 
175, 94 P.3d 945 (2004). While potentially useful in negotiations, 
"[a]greements to agree are unenforceable in Washington. Id. at 176. This 
is designed to "avoid trapping parties in surprise contractual obligations." 
Id. at 178. Therefore, "for a contract to form, the parties must objectively 
manifest their mutual assent" and "the terms assented to must be 
sufficiently definite." Id. at 177-78. 
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and that the seller's agent had been mistaken at the pre-sale inspection. 

Id 

E. First American issued the Title Insurance Policy 

When the title was recorded, First American issued the title 

insurance policy to Edward and Maya. CP 460, 485-494 (Insurance 

Policy). It provides for indemnification and defense. CP 485. The policy 

has been in force: "Your insurance is effective on the Policy Date [May 

10, 2007]." CP 485, 488. It protects them against actual losses for 

covered risks: "This Policy insures You against actual loss, including 

any costs, attorneys' fees and expenses provided under this Policy, 

resulting from the Covered Risks set forth below ... " CP 460, 485. 

"Covered Risks" include: 
"5. Someone else has a right to limit Your use of the 
Land;and 
"9. Someone else has as [sic] encumbrance on Your 
Title." 

CP 460, 485. The insurance policy also promises to defend Edward and 

Maya against adverse claims: "OUR DUTY TO DEFEND AGAINST 

LEGAL ACTIONS: We will defend Your Title in any legal actions only 

as to that part of the action which is based on a Covered Risk." CP 485. 

So the insurance policy promises to indemnify and defend Edward and 

Maya's title when "Someone else has a right to limit [their] use of the 

13 



Land" and when "Someone else has an encumbrance on [their] Title." 

CP 485. 

F. Edward and Maya incur actual losses from covered 
risks 

During the 2010 to 2011 time period, the septic system to 

Edward and Maya's home failed. (This was the older system in the 

backyard.) CP 465-66. To correct the problem, they applied to the 

Snohomish Health District to connect to the newer septic system that 

existed in their front yard. CP 466. The Health District denied the 

application. CP 466. The basis for the denial was that the previous 

owner installed the front-yard septic system on the property (Lots 25-28) 

for the neighboring Bush House (Lots 29-33), and filed the Declaration 

of Restrictive Covenants. CP 466, 910 (Denial Letter). 

The Health District denied Edward and Maya's application to use 

their own land to repair their own septic system, stating that, 

Although the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants may 
just be some sort of cloud on the title of Lots 25 through 
28, it also may be a legal instrument granting dominate 
control of the existing OSS [on-site septic system] 
pressure bed and portions of Lots 25 thru 28 to the 
property owner of Lots 29 thru 33. Until this situation 
can be adequately resolved, it is not readily clear who 
has ownership/control of the OSS pressure bed and the 
immediate area. 

14 



CP 910. So the Health District found that Edward and Maya did not 

have clear ownership of their own land due to the Restrictive Covenants. 

The Health District later threatened them with prosecution for their 

failing septic system. CP 468. Meanwhile, a prospective new owner of 

The Bush House, together with seller Nordstrom, threatened to sue 

Edward and Maya for not giving rights to their own land in favor of The 

Bush House. CP 463-65. 

By this time, Edward and Maya tendered their defense to First 

American. CP 466. Their attorney, Kem Hunter, sent the insurance 

company a letter: "REMEDY REQUESTED: Initiate legal action to 

remove the restrictive covenants, and nullify the Snohomish Health 

District letter; take other appropriate action to protect owner's title to 

property." CP 892. Claims counsel for First American responded two 

months later, acknowledging that "the undisclosed declaration of 

restrictive covenant may constitute an encumbrance on your title." CP 

466, 907. But the insurance company denied that a covered loss existed, 

and declined to initiate any action to protect the insured title. CP 910. 

G. First American acknowledges coverage for actual 
losses due to the undisclosed recorded documents 

The insurance company reversed course after the Health District 

denied the application to repair the septic system. CP 467, 921 ("present 
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circumstances reported by the Eleazers do trigger coverage under their 

title policy"). Edward and Maya also resubmitted their insurance claims, 

including claims under Covered Risk No. 5 ("Someone else has a right 

to limit Your use of the Land") and Covered Risk No. 9 (encumbrance 

on title). CP 467, 915. 

First American responded, acknowledging that the 1993 recorded 

documents trigger coverage under Covered Risks Nos. 5 and 9: 

Declaration of Restrictive Covenants and the SHD letter 
recorded in 1993 have an ambiguous impact on the 
Eleazers' use of their property; solely for purposes of the 
present claim, however, First American accepts that they 
are recorded documents within the scope of Covered 
Risks Nos. 5 and 9 in that they limit the location where 
the Eleazers can install a septic system on their property. 

CP 467, 926 (middle ~). This acknowledgment of coverage required the 

insurance company to defend, assist, investigate, and provide benefits. 

Instead, First American "suggest[ ed] a different method for 

resolving this, although, strictly speaking, it is not an appropriate 

measure of damages under the title policy." CP 926. First American 

informed Edward and Maya that a diminution-in-value appraisal could 

involve months of delay. Id. Instead of doing the appraisal, First 

American only offered "to pay the difference between a low-pressure 

and high-pressure septic system." Id. (The expensive and smaller, high-
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pressure septic system was necessary because the Health District denied 

the application for Edward and Maya to use the drain field on their own

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