NO. 75097-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

EDWARD AND MAYA ELEAZER, husband and wife,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

VS.

FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer; THE TALON GROUP, a domestic Washington corporate entity or partnership, d/b/a Talon Group escrow and/or Talon Title; DOE PERSONS 1-5; AND roe entities 6-10,

Respondents/Defendants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Thomas F. Peterson, WSBA #16587 SOCIUS LAW GROUP, PLLC Attorneys for First American Title

Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4950 Seattle, WA 98101.3951 206.838.9100

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

time. They were not re-established when the property was sold because Ms. Nordstrom did not expressly reserve them in her deed.

The efficient proximate cause rule has no application in this case. The cases cited by the Eleazers and most, if not all, other reported cases applying the efficient proximate cause rule involve "all risk" homeowners' or builder's insurance policies.² The rule provides that "[w]here a peril specifically insured against sets other causes in motion which, in an unbroken sequence and connection between the act and final loss, produce the result for which recovery is sought, the insured peril is regarded as the 'proximate cause' of the entire loss." *Graham*, 98 Wn.2d at 538. "Proximate cause" is defined as that cause "which, in a natural and continuous sequence, unbroken by any new, independent cause, produces the event, and without which the event would not have occurred." *Id*.

First, the loss at issue in this case was not caused by a "peril" typically insured against by an "all risk" homeowners or builder's insurance policy. Those cases typically involve perils such as mudslides, floods or construction failures. In this case, the Policy insured against "actual loss" incurred because "someone else has a right to limit your use of the Land." (CP 546.) Second and related is that, in this case, it was not someone else that limited the Eleazers' use of their land, it was the Eleazers who did it by signing Form 34. The 1993 SHD Letter and

² The Eleazers cite Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indemnity Ins. Co., 174 Wn.2d 501, 276 P.3d 300 (2012); Villella v. PEMCO, 106 Wn.2d 806, 725 P.2d 957 (1986) and Graham v. PEMCO, 98 Wn.2d 533, 656 P.2d 1077 (1983).

Covenants were not a proximate cause of the loss because the Eleazers, for their own independent reasons, agreed to grant an easement. They were free to not purchase the property if granting an easement for the OSS was unacceptable to them. The SHD Letter and Covenants did not compel the Eleazers to sign Form 34. In other words, Nordstrom's recording of the SHD Letter and Covenants was not a cause that in a "natural and continuous sequence, unbroken by any new, independent cause" limited the Eleazers' use of their land. In fact, both the superior court and the court of appeals held that the Eleazers' independent act of signing Form 34 limited their use of the land, not the SHD Letter and Covenants. (CP 759-80; Eleazer v. Bush House, No. 70513-0-1 slip op. at 8.) Moreover, had First American set out an exception to coverage in the preliminary commitment for the SHD Letter and Covenants, it is hard to imagine how it would have made any difference. It might have informed the Eleazers of an historical fact that helped explain why the easement was necessary. But the Eleazers would still have been free to walk away from the purchase if they chose not to grant the easement. Accordingly, the SHD Letter and Covenants did not cause any actual loss to the Eleazers and First American properly denied coverage under the Title Policy.

b. The recorded SHD Letter and Covenants do not render the Eleazer Property unmarketable.

"Defects which merely diminish the value of the property, as opposed to defects which adversely affect a clear title to the property, will not render title unmarketable within the meaning and coverage of a policy

insuring against unmarketable title." Joel E. Smith, Defects affecting marketability of title within meaning of title insurance policy, 18 A.L.R. 4th 1311 (1982); see also Dave Robbins Const., LLC v. First Am. Title Co., 158 Wn. App. 895, 901, 249 P.3d 625, 627 (2010) (same). There is a marked difference between economic lack of marketability, which courts hold is not covered by title insurance, and title marketability, which is covered by title insurance. Dave Robbins Const., 158 Wn. App. at 901. Economic lack of marketability concerns conditions that affect the use of land, whereas title marketability involves defects affecting legally recognized rights and incidents of ownership. Id.

Marketable title "refers to the legal ownership of a property interest so that one having title to a property interest can withstand the assertion of others claiming a right to that ownership. But [such] title to property does not characterize the property itself as valuable, merchantable, or even usable." Haw River Land & Timber Co. v. Lawyers Title Ins. Corp., 152 F.3d 275, 278 (4th Cir. 1998). Thus, it is widely recognized that the existence of restrictions on development do not render title unmarketable. Dave Robbins Const., 158 Wn. App. at 901 (holding that a historical designation that significantly restricted future development of the property at issue did not render title to the property unmarketable under the operative Title Policy because there were no "defects affecting legally recognized rights and incidents of ownership of [Appellant's] properties."); see also Hebb v. Severson, 32 Wn.2d 159, 171, 201 P.2d 156, 162 (1948). In any event, the most potent proof that the

SHD Letter and Covenants do not render the Eleazer Property unmarketable is the fact that the Eleazers themselves bought it knowing that the Bush House OSS was located in the front yard and agreed to grant an easement for it.

Accordingly, even if the Covenants could somehow limit future development, which, as explained above, for multiple reasons they cannot, they would not render title unmarketable. Further, the SHD Letter has no impact on marketability as it has no bearing on title to the Eleazer Property. Accordingly, First American properly denied coverage based upon the Eleazers' claim of unmarketability.

c. The fact that the Eleazers allowed and agreed to permit the Bush House drainfield to remain on their property when they purchased it bars coverage under the Title Policy.

The Title Policy expressly excludes risks "[t]hat are created, allowed, or agreed to by You, whether or not they appear in the Public Records." (CP 553.) The superior court and the court of appeals ruled that the Eleazers expressly agreed in the REPSA Form 34 to grant an easement so that the Bush House could maintain the OSS drainfield located on the Eleazer Property. (CP 759-60; *Eleazer v. Bush House*, No. 70513-0-1 *slip op.* at 8.) The Eleazers closed on their purchase knowing and agreeing that the drainfield was located, and would remain, in their front yard. Further, they did not demand before closing that Nordstrom remove the drainfield. The presence of the drainfield on the Eleazer Property and the Bush House's right of access for maintenance, therefore, are matters that were allowed or agreed to by the Eleazers. Accordingly, the Eleazers' claim

falls within the scope of Exclusion No. 4(a), is not covered by the Policy and was properly denied.

The Eleazers argue that their claim relates to the fact that the SHD Letter and Covenants are recorded on their property title not to the existence of the drainfield, per se. But, as stated above, the Title Policy only insures against actual loss resulting from a covered risk. It does not guaranty clear title. Accordingly, the Eleazers' claim must be tied to a covered risk that causes them a loss. That loss necessarily is that the drainfield limits the Eleazers' use of their property. As explained above, no one has sought to restrict the Eleazers' use or development of their property based on the SHD Letter or Covenants except as it relates to the Eleazers' desire to take control of the drainfield and use it for their own septic system. The only reason they are prohibited from doing so is because the Eleazers agreed in the REPSA Form 34 to grant an easement to the Bush House for the drainfield when they bought the Eleazer Property. The superior court acknowledged this when it said, "Eleazers contractually promised to grant an OSS easement, which was the direct underlying purpose of the SHD letter and Covenants." (CP 759.)

C 1031 Properties, Inc. v. First American Title Ins. Co., 175 Wn. App. 27, 301 P.3d 500 (2013) has no bearing on this case. C 1031 involves a different form of title policy and a different exclusion than the one at issue in this case. In C 1031, the court held that "knowledge" under the definition section of that policy meant actual knowledge of the recorded easement not constructive knowledge. 175 Wn. App. at 33. C

^{281699.doc} 31

1031 is totally inapposite because, in this case, First American did not deny coverage based upon a similar "knowledge" exclusion, such as Policy Exclusion 4(b). Rather, First American denied coverage based upon Exclusion 4(a), which excludes risks "allowed or agreed to" by the insured. The covered risk at issue in this case is that "someone else has the right to limit Your use of the Land." (CP 546.) But the Eleazers knew all about the drainfield and the Bush House's use of it prior to purchasing the property, allowed it to remain there, and agreed to grant an easement to the Bush House to use and maintain it. Accordingly, First American properly denied coverage under Exclusion 4(a).

d. The Eleazers' failure to cooperate with First American's handling of the claim by withholding material information relevant to coverage bars coverage under the Title Policy.

The Eleazers forfeited whatever rights they had under the Title Policy by withholding material information from First American. Section 5 of the Title Policy Conditions provides as follows:

- a. You must cooperate with Us in handling any claim or legal action and give Us all relevant information.
- b. If you fail or refuse to cooperate with Us, Your coverage will be reduced or ended, but only to the extent Your failure or refusal affects Our ability to resolve the claim or defend you.

(CP 554.) "Insureds may forfeit their right to recover under an insurance policy if they fail to abide by provisions in the policy requiring them to cooperate with the insurer's investigation of their claim." *Tran v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 214, 224, 961 P.2d 358, 363 (1998). "Information is material when it 'concerns a subject relevant and

germane to the insurer's investigation as it was then proceeding' at the time it was made." *Id.*

When the Eleazers first submitted their claim, they did not disclose to First American their prior knowledge of the Bush House OSS in their front yard, that they allowed it to remain on the property, or their agreement to grant an easement for it in connection with their purchase of the property. The Eleazers' attorneys continued to omit that information from subsequent letters to First American. First American specifically requested information from the Eleazers relating directly to the question of what the Eleazers knew about the drainfield prior to closing. In their responsive letters, the Eleazers failed to disclose the facts regarding their prior knowledge of the drainfield and their agreement to allow it to remain. Meanwhile, the Eleazers filed a lawsuit against the Bush House in which they admitted that they had known about the drainfield prior to purchasing the property and had agreed to grant an easement for the Bush House to maintain it. Still the Eleazers made no mention of these facts to First American. Finally, on June 4, 2013, over two years after submitting their claim, the Eleazers inadvertently disclosed this information to attorneys for First American when their new lawyer sent them a copy of the court's Order on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment. (CP 273-80.)

The information withheld by the Eleazers was "relevant and germane" to First American's investigation. First American specifically requested information regarding the Eleazers' knowledge of the drainfield prior to closing and explained why it was relevant. The Eleazers' breach

of the cooperation clause materially prejudiced First American. "Interference with the insurer's ability to evaluate and investigate a claim may cause actual prejudice." *Tran*, 136 Wn.2d at 228. Here, the Eleazers' withholding of information impaired First American's ability to investigate the claim and caused First American to accept the claim and incur costs and fees under the mistaken belief that the Eleazers had no knowledge of the drainfield prior to closing. The Eleazers' failure to cooperate with First American's investigation of the claim constitutes an additional ground for First American's denial of the claim.

B. <u>Talon Did Not Breach its Escrow Instructions or Fiduciary Duties</u> to the Eleazers.

An escrow agent's duties are defined and limited by its escrow instructions. *Denaxas v. Sandstone Court of Bellevue, LLC*, 148 Wn.2d 654, 663, 63 P.3d 125, 129 (2003). Talon did not breach the Escrow Instructions. The role of the escrow agent is to act as a neutral third party to the transaction, in particular to facilitate the transfer of the purchase funds to the seller, pay off monetary encumbrances that the escrow agent is instructed to pay off, and record and deliver the deed. It does not search or insure title. It does not perform due diligence on the property or advise the buyer or the seller on the legal or business merits of the transaction.

1. The Escrow Instructions did not require Talon to Search Title Records and Disclose Title Matters to the Eleazers.

The Escrow Instructions do not impose a duty on the escrow agent to search and disclose recorded documents. On the contrary, the Escrow Instructions specifically state that the escrow agent has no such duty. The

^{281699 doc} 34

Escrow Instructions state as follows:

Title Insurance. The closing agent is instructed to obtain and forward to the parties a preliminary commitment for title insurance on the property. . . (referred to herein as "the title report"). The closing agent is authorized to rely on the title report in the performance of its duties and shall have no responsibility or liability for any title defects or encumbrances which are not disclosed in the title report.

(CP 558.) Furthermore, the Eleazers provided written assurance to Talon that they had received, reviewed and approved the preliminary commitment for title insurance.

Title Report Approved. The Preliminary Commitment of Title Insurance, including the legal description of the property and all attachments, supplements, and endorsements, to that report, issued by The Talon Group/Bellevue under order number 1003141, are approved by me and made a part of these instructions by this reference.

(CP 563.) Moreover, the escrow agent does not have any duty to advise the parties on the merits of the transaction, inspect the property, or render legal opinions about land use laws or the suitability of the property for the buyer's intended use. The following sections of the Escrow Instructions define the limits of the escrow agent's duties in this regard:

Disclosures, Inspection and Approval of the Property. . . . The closing agent shall have no liability with respect to the accuracy of any disclosures made, or for the physical condition of the property, or any building improvements, plumbing, heating, cooling, electrical, septic or other systems on the property, and no responsibility to inspect the property, or to otherwise determine or disclose its physical condition, or to determine whether any required disclosures have been made, or whether any required improvements, additions, or repairs have been satisfactorily completed.

Approvals and Permits. The parties are advised to consult with their attorneys to determine whether any building, zoning, subdivision, septic system, or other construction or

land use permits or approvals will be required, either before or after the closing date. The closing agent shall have no responsibility with respect to any such permit or approval, and shall have no liability arising from the failure of any party to obtain, or from the refusal of any governmental authority to grant, any such permit or approval.

Property Approved. I have had adequate opportunity to review the seller's written disclosure statement, if any, and to inspect the property and to determine the exact location of its boundaries. The location and physical condition of the property and any buildings, improvements, plumbing, heating, cooling, electrical or septic systems on the property are approved. I understand that all inspections and approvals of the locations and physical condition of the property are my sole responsibility, and are not part of the closing agent's duties and responsibilities. I hereby release and agree to hold the closing agent harmless from any and all claims of liability for loss or damage arising or resulting from any physical condition or defect on the property, or from the location of its boundaries.

(CP 560 & 563.)

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